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It’s been a good year for N Brown.

For a start we’ve seen like-for-like sales
growth of 12.5% with all customer and
product groups contributing. Then we’ve
successfully launched a number of new
brands - including Marisota, Jacamo and
Simply Yours — as well as increasing our
active customer base. Plus a 50% growth in
our online sales has generated incremental
revenue and delivered operational
efficiencies. In short, a combination of hard
work and a business model focussed on
niche customers and products has led to
record levels of customer satisfaction and
has laid the foundations for future growth.
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Financial Highlights

08 07
Revenue £610.9m £523.8m
Operating profit £91.8m £76.3m
Profit before taxation £78.0m £65.3m
Basic earnings per share 20.75p 15.86p
Dividend per share 9.06p 7.53p
Net assets £248.5m £202.5m
Net asset value per share 91.6p 75.6p
Gearing 80% 51%
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Five Year History

Pre-tax Profit* (£Em) Revenue - Continuing Dividends Per Share (p)
Operations (£m)
78.0 6109 9.06
653 523.8
4596 7.53
54.2 4126 4165 627
471 469 584 584
04 (|05(|06]]| 07 04 (|05(|06|]07 04(|]05|]06 |07
Operating Profit - Earnings Per Share”* (p) Net Assets (Em)
Continuing Operations (Em)
91.8 20.75 244.3 246.0 2485
2301
763 202.5
15.86
624
13.11
52.2 54.2 12.02
10.48
o4||05]||06 || 07 o4(105|(06 |07 04]||05|(06 (] 07

Excluding operating exceptional items 2005 £22 Sm 2004 £17 5m
" Rasutts presented under IFAS from 2005 previously UK GAAP
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Chairman’s Statement

The group has achieved record results for the 53 weeks ended 1 March 2008
and has also made a good start to the new financial year. To reflect this, and

our ongoing confidence in our business strategy, the directors are proposing
a 20% increase in the final dividend.

Lord Alliance of Manchester, CBE
Chaiman
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Group

Group revenue from continuing operations
for the year 1s up by 16 6% to £610 9m and
operating profit 1s up by 20 3% to £91 8m
On a like-for-like basis sales are up 12 5%
excluding the benefit of the 53rd week In
this year which generated addrtional
revenue of £12 5m and £1 9m of operating
profit Earrings per share from continuing
operations are up by 30 8% to 20 75p,
benefiting both from ongeing profit growth
and also the return of value to shareholders
and associated consolidation of share
capital in March 2007 The directors are
proposing a 20% increase tn the final
dimdend to 6 41p, making a total for the
year of 9 06p (up 20 3%}, covered 2 3 times

Net borrowmngs at the year-end stood at
£199 4m, anincrease of £95 4m on last
year, due to the £80m retumn of value to
shareholders, and £15m speciat contnbution
to the pension fund, which had a deficrt

of only £5 8m at 1 March 2008 The group
has committed borrowing facilies of
£320m which are in place until 2012

Net interest payable on borrowings was
covered 5 9 imes, and geanng 1s 80%
(2007, 51%) based on net assets of

£248 5m (2007, £202 5m)

Home Shopping Highlights

Key tughhights have been the increase in
our customer base, partly by the launch
of new brands, expansion of our product
ranges and growth of the online channel
The results are especially pleasing given
the strange weather patterns, the general
economic downtum and the impact on
the business of the Royal Mail dispute in
October 2007 The cngoing improvermnents
in customer service and our operating

efficiency have allowed us to nvest in
higher levels of customer recruitment, yet
still Increase the operating margtn by 0 4%
to 150%

Customers

The size and quality of our customer
database 1s a core strength of the business,
and in the year the overall number of
established customers with active accounts
increased by 5% In addibon there was

an 8% increase in average spend per
established customer Sales resulting

from our new customer recruitment have
increased by 15% for the year, following
the significant investment that has been
made to enhance the database, and we
have launched a number of new brands

to extend our offers to a wider audience
These include Simply Yours, a younger,
outsize lingene range, Mansota, offenng a
complete size proposiion of contemporary
clothing for confident women, and Jacamoe,
providing clothing and footwear for younger,
larger men The results from these new
launches are encouraging and will be
developed further in the coming year

Thus growth has been achieved across all
our brands, and whilst our mid-hfe titles,
targeting customers aged 45-65, rernain
the most significant in volume terms and
grew by a creditable 14%, the fastest
growing have been our younger titles
cateting for the larger womman under 45
where sales are up by 24%

Product Ranges

Sales growth has been seen across all

our major categones, and we continue to
increase both the breadth and depth of the
range Ladieswear sales were up 18% from




Group revenue up 16 6% to

Total dvidend up 20 3% to

Earnings per share up 30 8% to

£610.9m

a wider choice of size fittings and ongoing
development of exclusive product from
designers, such as Anna Scholtz, and more
branded lines Footwear sales are up by
12% as we continue to offer the market-
leading range n wider fittings  Althaugh
menswear currently accounts for just 8%
of our total sales it has grown by 24% in
the year and 15 an area where we see
future opportunibes Strong electncal
sales in particular have contnbuted to
home and lessure sales growing by 14%,
now accounting for 27% of total revenue

Online Sales

In the last 12 months our online sales have
grown by 50% and now represent 28% of
all sales, compared with 22% last year, as
customers of all ages gain confidlence with
online shopping Ongoing improvements

to web functionality, alongside internet-only
product offers and promotions, are dnving
online order values to be 25% higher than
those taken by telephone, which, in addibon
to cost savings achieved through bypassing
the contact centre, have generated
operational efficiencies

The internet 1s additionally providing an
effective recruitment channel and further
developments are in place to exploit this
QOur new brands have achieved a notably
strong internet penetration

Gross and Operating Margins

Dus to the planned changes in customer
and product mix we anticipated a reduction
in the gross margin, and the fall of 0 3%

to 55 3% was better than expected

This drop was more than offset by lower
costs achieved as a result of the higher
online panetration and lower distnbution

9.06p

costs, resutting in an increase in the
operatng profit mangin by 0 4% to 15 0%

Service

For the Autumn/Winter 2007 season, we
achieved our highest ever level of customer
satisfaction, which was reflected in a lower
rate of goods returned by customers

In May 2007 the £10m project to extend
the bulk and hanging gamment warehouses
at our Hadfeld site was completed
successfully which 1s helping to improve
productivity and speed up the time taken

to despatch customers’ orders Later this
year it will enable the integration of Gray &
Oshourn's operaticns, which are currently
outsourced, to further drve cost efficiencies

Current Trading and Cutiook

Horme shopping sates for 8 weeks to 26th
April 2008 are up by 12 1% on the same
peniod last year continuing the trends from
the pnor year As expected the rate of gross
margin has reduced by 0 4% compared to
last year due to product and customer mix,
and we would expect this to be the situation
throughout the year The proporton of sales
transacted over the intemet in this penod
was 31%, an increase of 42% in value

Despite the current economic climate,

the board believes there are a number of
reasons why the business 1s well placed to
continue to outperform the retail sector as a
whole Firstly the age and socio-demographic
distnbution of our customer base means it
15 less impagcted by higher interest rates

In addibon the increased strength of the
custorner database, coupled with the
potential from the roll-out of our new
brands, gives us a firn foundation for the
year The upward trend in online penstration

20.75p

will also continue to deliver incremental
demand and cost savings, complementing
the ongoing development of catalogues
and product ranges

As a result the board remain confident that
the management and staff, who have

performed very well over the last year, can
deliver another good performance this year

o

Lord Alliance
of Manchester, CBE
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Chief Executive’s Review

The results for the 53 weeks to 1 March 2008 continue to demonstrate the
successful implementation of our strategy to focus on niche customers and
products. Sales were £610.9m, up by 16.6% on last year and operating profit
from continuing businesses was £91.8m, an increase of 20.3%.

Alan White
Chief Executive
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Home Shopping Summary

On a hke-for-like basis, sales were up by
12 5% excluding the benefit of the 53rd
week which contnbuted an additicnal

£12 5m of revenue and an extra £1 9m
operating profit The mcreases in sales
across all customer and product groups,
alongstde record customer satisfaction
levels and ongoing reductions in major
operating costs, are encouraging, as I1s the
strong growth of our e-commerce activibes

We have invested significantty more in
marketing and recnuitment costs dunng the
year but the efficiency we have achieved In
our operating costs has led to an overall 0 4%
ncrease In the operating margm to 15 0%

The good start to the new financial year
dermonstrates that our home shopping
portfolio of catalogues and websites 1s I
good shape and 1s well placed for further
progress

Customer Groups

We have a range of twenty different
propositions to which we recruit customers,
with each having a target customer profile,
or product focus We group them for
simphcity in three age bands

- Younger — targeting customers under 45
~ Md-life - targeting customers aged 45-65
- Older - targeting customers over 65

In the last year, the younger customer group
has been the fastest growing with sales up
24% to £168m Fashion World, which has
the highest sales in this category by targeting
valug-conscious customers in therr forties,
had strong growth, but the key dnver has

been Simply Be with sales growth of 39%
Simply Be caters for female customers in
therr thirties who want fashionable clothing
n sizes 14 to 32, but find 1t hard to buy
clothes on the high street to fit We have
continied to expand the product range,
notably with the introduction of brands
such as Joe Browns and Ben Sherman,
where we have exclusivity in larger sizes

To complement the Simply Be brand we
have also launched Simply Yours, recruiing
customers to a younger lingene catalogue
Addtionally we have created and launched
Jacamo for younger, but larger, fashion
conscious men The inihial results from these
new brands are encouraging with customer
recruitment levels, repeat onder rates, and
online penetration all beating therr targets

Our mid-Iife brands are the fargest group,
with sales of £415m, representing 68% of
group sales Despite these being our most
established brands, we have seen sales
growth of 14%, with particularly strong
performances from JD Willlams, Ambrose
Wilson, Oxendales and Premier Man

These customars love to shop from our
catalogues and websites, for our range of
stylish, comfortable clothing and footwear
which i1s aimost invanably available in their
size, length or fitting To further develop this
group we taunched Mansota in the Autumn/
Winter 2007 season It 1s targeted at middle-
aged women who are not currently home
shoppers, and who we can attract through
a contemporary clothing offer which
emphasises the wide range of sizes,
lengths, colours and fittings  The early
results from Mansota have exceeded initial
expectations and further investment 1s
planned for 2008/9




Number of estabhished customers over

Younger customer sales up

Sales from mid-life brands up 14% to

5 million

In June 2006 we acquired Gray & Osbourn,
an upmarket ladieswear catalogue in this
mid-Iife group, specialising in German
branded merchandise Growth from this
has been exceptionally strong, with sales
for the full twelve months of £25m,
compared with £12rm in the eight months
in the previous year

The third group of catalogue brands is the
older group which includes Heather Valley
and Special Collaction These customers
delivered sales of £28m, up by 12%, and
account for 5% of total sales

Sales growth has been dnven from both
our astablished customers (whe have
purchased In previous years} and new
customers (those recruited dunng the
penod} We have an established database
of over five million customers who have
ordered in the past two years and in the
penod we saw an Increase in active
customers of 5%, coupled with an 8%
Increase in average spend per customer

Due to the operating cost efficiencies
being dnven across the business as a
whole, we have been able to invest
significantly in new customer recruitment,
both for the estabhshed brands and the
new launches of Simply Yours, Mansota
and Jacamo The sales from newly recruited
customers in the year rose by 15%, and
we ars expenencing improved second
order rates duse to the investment in more
targeted advertising, albait at a mamginally
hgher inthal cost per acquisiton, as

wea switch from indmdual product
advertisements to promotion of cur
unique selling propositions This includes

24%

a dramatic increase m customers recruited
through search engine marketing

Product Groups

Qur core selling potnts are around size

and fit, and in the year we have continued
to extend the range we coffer with a 20%
increase in options to over 180,000

We can service such an extensive range by
operating from two centralised warehouses

Ladieswear sales increased by 16% to
£332m and account for 54% of the total
Our extensive range of sizes go up to size
38, and over half our ladisswear sales are
in size 20 or above where availability on the
high street 1s hmited The range continues
to be expanded with more length options
on skirts and trousers and even swimwear
1s now available in two lengths  Younger
tashion has grown due to strong Simply
Be sales and our casual ranges which offer
great fashion and value With improved
presentation in both our Wardrobe and
Joanna Hope rangses we saw Impressive
sales growth in smartwear, and the
expanded sportswear range IS proving
highly popular We have also launched a
fast fashvon range, with new products
designed and then featured on our
websites within eight weeks As well as
generating its own sales stream, it gves a
strong indicator as to trends and winning
lines, which can be incorporated into future
editions of the catalogue

The corsetry and ingene ranges now feature
bra sizes from 32A up to 561, with an
unsurpassed array of styles and colours
The younger styles have again been
expanded to support the development of

£415m

the Simply Yours brand and in particular we
have mntroduced more branded merchandise
Last year our lingene was heavily featured

on Channel 4's “How To Look Good Naked”

Within footwear we are the market leader

in wide fittngs and new developments
have included a multi-fit range, with vanable
insoles allowing a perfect fit, and boots
available in up to four calf fithings Footwear
sales have grown by 12% in the year, with
success m both the core ranges and the
ntreduction of styles suited to the younger
Fashion World and Simply Be customers

Menswear has continued to grow with sales
of £46m, up by 24%, dnwven both by our
mid-hfe Premier Man and Southbay ranges
and our more fashionable Resume range
Although menswear accounts for only 8%
of our total sales at present, it s a key

area for future development The launch

of Jacamo in August 2007 was designed
to gain an ncreased share of the younger
menswear market, and involved acquinng
more branded fines in larger sizes

Home and leisure sales have grown by

14% and now account for 27% of total
sates Qur extended gift range for Chnstmas
proved successful and further developments
are planned for 2008/9 We have seen
strong electncal sales as our customers
adopt newer technologies such as digital
television and radio, personal computers
and satellite nawngation systems In addition
wa have successfully expanded the home
and leisure range for younger customers
with the Smply Be Horme catalogue which
has a more contemporary collection of
home décor and garden products

N Brown Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2008
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Chief Executive’s Review

Online sales up 50% to

Average customer spend up

Ladieswear sales up 18% to

£168m

A key part of our strategy I1s to encourage
customers to trade across our departments
and the mamn measure i1s the proportion

of customers who purchase something
dunng the year from each of the ladieswear
outerwear, underwear and footwear ranges
This has increased to 14% through an active
cross-selling programme which in turn will
dnve higher spend per customer and loyalty
in future seasons

Managing the multiplicity of catalogues,
brochures, leaflets and online offers with
such a large range of product options 15
cora strength of the business and we have
succeeded In delivering high service yet
low dormancy levels

The achweved gross margin ts a complex
mix, based on the performance of different
product and customer segments, including
the financial income and bad debts ansing
from sales on credit For 2007/8, the
reduction in gross margin by 0 3% to 55 3%
was better than we had anticipated based
on tha change in this mix

Crednt

Most of our customers have a credit
account but less than half incur any interest
charges as they pay ther balance in full

Qur credit sconng policy has increased
credit imits to established customers
through behavioural sconng, and assisted
new customer recruitment through increased
acceptance at margina! levels Although this
has increased bad debt, this is in ine with
our plan and the strategy continues to prove
profitable We are monitonng our portfolic
very closely for any signs of degradation
bt to date there have been no significant
changes after allowing for the influx of

N Brown Group pic Annual Report & Accounts 2008

8%

new customers and the mix of the active
customer base Overall debtors at the end
of the year had increased by 13% to £389m

E-Commerce

A key element of our success this year

has been the increase in our online sales

to £168m, accounting for 28% of total
sales compared to 22% last year This

1$ an increase of 50% on the pnor year

The increase 15 dnven by customers of all
ages becoming more confident in shopping
online The websites are actively promoted
to established customers through the mora
traditional, paper based communications
we send out, as well as using the channel
as an effective recrutment vehicle for new
customers

The internet bnngs a number of benefits

to us, and s proving highly cost effective
The average order value online 1s 25%
higher than for orders placed offline as
customers find it easy to browse our many
websites, talung their online basket with
them Once an onling shopper, we then see
a customer’s fraquency of order increase
due to the convenience the channel offers,
and we utiise e-mal marketing campaigns
extensively to generate incremental demand
at a low promotional cost

Dunng the year we have again invested
heawvily in improving the capacity and
functionality of our websites, and the

new features are encouraging customers

to spend longer penods logged on to our
websites which generates addittonal revenue

Encouragingty, our developing younger
brands and new launches, which have all
been backed with a web offenng, are seeing

£332m

very strong online penetration For example,
60% of Smply Be's sales are onhne and this
is 69% for Jacamo

Service and Costs

For the Auturmn/Winter 2007 season we
achieved our highest ever lovet of customer
satisfaction as measured through ongoing
service questionnares This demonstrates
continued satisfaction with our products,
which 1s also reflected in a 0 3% reduction
in the rate at which customers retum
goods as a result of product quality and

fit improvements Additronally, the
customer satisfaction level shows that

the service delivered by our call centre
and fulfilment logistics teams 1S improving
A key measure Is that the proportion of
enquines made by our customers actually
fell from the previous year

tn May 2007 we completed a £10m project
developing our Hadfield warehouse, which
has increased bulk and hanging garment
capacity, and allowed a faster delvery to
customers We are also m the process of
rgrating the couner delivery sarvice from
TNT Post to Parcelnet, following TNT's exit
from the low cost parcel network Couner
delivery cumently accounts for around 70%
of delvenes and the move to Parcelnet will
be complete by mid-2008 with better service
levels anticipated for no adchitional cost

Distnbution costs in the year have only
increased by 12 5% pnmanly due to the
collatton benefits achieved on the back

of higher order values, mainly via the web,
and improved stock availability




Menswear sales up

Home and Leisure sales up 14% to

Proportion of total sales online

4%

Management

We have strengthened the operating board
In the last few months with three senior
appomntments Mark Cheshire joined as
Customer Service Director, Paul Kendnck
as Group Development Director and Neil
McGowan as Information Technology
Director

Environment

We take the impact our business has on the
envirenment senously and have instigated
a number of Initiatives to reduce our carbon
footpnnt For example, 75% of group waste
15 now re-cycled, compared to just 25% in
2005/6, and we aim to move this to 85% by
the end of 2008 Despite the growth of the
business, and the increases in volumes and
workmg hours at our warehouses, we have
maintained gas and electnaity consumphon
at previous years levels, and this year will
migrate to 100% Green Energy

Zendor

In December 2007 we completed the
disposal of non-core activities with the sale
of Zendor to GS1 Luxembourg Sarl The
net proceeds In cash, including repayment
of inter-company loans, was £3 6m and
allows the group to focus exclusively on

its core home shopping business

Current Trading and Prospects

The development of our established home
shopping brands and the launch of new
titles, have given us a good platform for the
future This is evidenced by the sales for the
8 weeks to 26th Apnl 2008 which are up by
12 1% with the growth spread across all
customer and product groups

£167m

The rate of gross margin has reduced by

0 4% due to the mix of turmnover shightly
favounng new customers and our younger
brands for the 30-45 age group However
we expect to achieve further operational
cost savings from the ncreasing proportion
of online sales dunng the year

The demographic trends continue to benefit
our business, with the customer population
aged 45+ forecast to grow steadily over the
medium term, and we are well positioned
through our range of brands and niche
products to capitalise on this Mowing
forward we will continue to grow the
business by recruthng new customers,
ncreasingly through the internet, and
increasing the spend of established
customers, as we encourage them to

shop across our vanous product ranges

All the new brands launched in 2007

have shown strong early results and
actiwity on these will be Increased in

2008/9 Additionally we have acquired the
Nightingales brand and customer file from
the admirustrators This will add to our older
catalogue group with & more upmarket,
traditional ladieswear range, and the first
catalogue has met our expectations

The product ranges have been significantly
expanded in recent years, and the exclusive
product 1s proving highly popular We will
build on the designer ranges featured and
have also launched a ladieswear range with
Caryn Frankhin within our spnng/summer
catalogues Following the success of the
home and leisure Chnstmas range, we will
be rolling out an all-year round gift offenng
under thebnlhantgiftshop co uk brand

8%

The intemet 1s the channel of choice for
a large proportion of our customers, and
wa will continue to invest In an ongoing
development programme Improvements
will include enhanced search engine
optrmisation to make online customer
recrutment even more effective, and
improving the online expenence through
better product presentation and guided
navigation, which in turn should improve
wisitor/order conversion levels

As we continue to seek iImprovements in
the way we deal with customers, we will
offer a differentiated service within our
contact centres dependent on brand
inhally this 1s being tnalled on Nightingales,
Gray & Osbourn and House of Bath

The combination of the demographic
trends, strength of our database, rollout

of the new titles, expansion of the product
ranges, investment in our e-commerce
activities and impravemeant to our customer
service gve us confidence that the business
will make further progress in the 52 weeks
to 28th February 2009

Alan White

N Brown Group ple Annual Report & Accounts 2008
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Financial Review

The 53 weeks to 1 March 2008 was another record year for the group
reflecting the successful continuation of our strategy to develop our home
shopping business. As a result group sales exceeded the prior year by

16.6% to £610.9m.

Dean Moore
Finance Director
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Group Trading Summary

Group operating profit for the same penod
amounted to £91 8m (2007, £76 3m) and
was achieved despite a 0 3% reduction in
gross margin ansing from a higher rate of
charge for bad debts due to a planned
change in the customer profile Lower
distnbution costs due mainly to improved
collatron rates and other cost efficiencies
ansing from the customers’ propensity to
use the intermet more than cffset this shortfall,
increasing the group’s operating margin to
15 0%, compared with 14 6% last year

Zendor, our thind party fulfilment business
was sold in December 2007 for a net
consideration of £1 7m and conseguently 1s
accounted for as a discontinued operation

Profit before taxation amounted to £78 Om
{2007, £65 3m}, despite a nse in net finance
charges to £15 6m (2007, £8 6m) on higher
net debt as a result of the £79 9m return of
value to shareholders paid in March 2007
and a £15m special contnbution to the
penston fund A favourable movement in
the far value of the group’s forward foreign
curency contracts contnbuted a profit of
£1 8m compared to a £2 4m loss in the
pnor year

Taxation

The effective rate of corporation tax for the
year s 28 5% (2007, 28 3%) as we continue
to benefit from lower overseas tax rates and
tax planning We expect the rate to fall shghtty
going forward dus to the reduction n rate

Balance Sheet and Cash Flow

The strong trading performance has resulted
in net assets increasing to £248 Sm at the
year end from £202 5m last year

Total capital expenditure for the year was
£15 5m of which £6m related to further
invastment in our warehousing infrastructure
at Hadfield and Shaw £6 7m was spent on
website development and customer senice
management systems which will continue
to generate operational savings Year end
stock levels at £68 1m were 24% up on
tast year reflecting the wide range of
merchandise on offer and advanced
purchasing to satisfy customer service

Trade debtors at the year end were up

13 3% to £389 3m compared to £343 4m
last year The rate of bad debt increased due
to the mix of debtors favounng newer and
younger customers as planned

The group's defined benefit pension scheme
deficit has reduced to £5 8m (2007, £27 7m)
following the £15m special contnbution paid
dunng the year which will be followed by
three further contnbutions of £4m per
annum for three years, with the final payment
in 2010 being subject to the results of the
actuarial valuation in 2009

Net cash generated from operating activities
fell from £42 8m to £31 7m pnmanly due

to the special pension contnbution which
together with the return of value payment

to shareholders in March 2007 of £79 9m
increased net debt in the year to £199 4m
(2007, £104 0m) and geanng to 80%

(2007, 51%)

Key Performance Indicators

The directors use a number of key
performance indicators {KPls) to monitor
the progress of the group, Including




Group profit before tax up 19 4% to

Operating margin up 0.4% to

Caputal investment

£78m

- Like for like sales {see page 6}

- Intemet sales (see page 8}

= The number of customer debtor accounts
and therr average debtor balance, which
at the year end was 1,627,000 {2007,
1,467,000) and £253 {2007, £234)
respectively

- Mix of sales by product and customer
groups (see pages 6 to 8)

~ Gross Margin {see page 5)

~ Operating margin (see page 5)

Risks and Uncertainties

There are a number of nsks and
uncertainties which could have an impact
on the group’s long-term performance

They include the potential threat from

our competitors, our relationship with

key suppliers, the loss of kay perscnnel,
potential disruption to our key information
systems, warehousing or call centre facilities
ansing from events beyond our control such
as fire or other ssues which could have

a detnmental i/mpact on sales and profit,
changes to the regulatory environment

that the business operates under, primanty
regulated by the Financial Services
Authonty and the Office of Far Trading

The directors routinely monitor all these
nsks and uncertainties and appropnate
actions are taken to mitigate these nsks,
such as having business continurty
procedures in place, a dedicated team
assessing regulatory developments,
ensunng we treat our customers faly

and hosting regular reviews with all of

our strategic partners The board are also
commutted to continually invest in updating
s systems and infrastructure to keep pace
with new technology

15.0%

Treasury

Funding arrangements have been set to
adequately support the ongong trading

and development actvity of the group

The group has commutted borrowing
faciities of £320m until 2012, of which
£250m were utihsed at the year end The
pnmary faciities are a £200m secuntisatron
programme through an HSBC A-1/P1 rated
conduit that has no exposure to the US sub-
pnme mortgage market and has a matching
standby facility The group also last year
entered into two five-year revohang credit
loan facikties of £50m each with HSBC
Bank plc and The Royal Bank of Scotland
ple, pnmanly in order to finance the return
of value payment to shareholders All the
current facilities are armanged at floating
interest rates Where appropnate, exposure
to interest rate fluctuations on indebtedness
158 managed by using denvatives such as
interest rate swaps In addibon the group
has cash balances of £50 8m (2007, £40 0m)

Anticipated foreign exchange requirements
for the purchase of stocks denorninated

in US dollars are hedged for up to three
years ahead 1o fix the cost of sterling

This hedging actvity involves the use of
spot, forwanrd and option contracts At the
year end the group had outstanding forward
foreign exchange contract commitments of
$66m (2007, $61m)

Accounting Standards and

Going Concern

Group accounting policies reflect curent
professional standards and related
guidelines 1ssued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and are
prepared in accordance with International

£15.5m

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
for use In the EU

Hawving made appropnate enquines and
hawving continued to operate an appropnate
nsk management process dunng the year,
the directors are pleased to report that
adequate resources exist to enable the
group to operate for the foreseeable future
A going concern basis adopted in the
preparation of the accounts I1s thersfore
considered appropnate

Shareholders Return

The share pnce of 334 5p at the start of

the year had fallen to 250 5p at the year

end gving a market capitalisation of £679 6m
(2007, £835 5m) A final dvidend of 6 41p
per share has been recommended by the
board and represents an increase of 20%
on the previous year giving a total dividend
for the year of S 06p per share, up by

20 3%, covered 2 3 times (2007, 2 1 imes)

D £

Dean Moore
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Directors and Officers
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1 Lord Aliance of Manchester CBE (75)
Non-executive Chawrman ¢

Appamted a director and Charman in 1968
Formerly Chairman of Coats Viyella Pic He s
also a director of a number of prnvate companies,
and was appointed a hfe peer in 2004

2. Alan White (53)

Chief Executive

Rejoined the company as Chief Executive in
2002 Previously with Arthur Andersen and
Sharp Electromcs, he onginally Started with

the company i 1985 and was Finance Cirector
until 1989 when he left to become Group
Finance Dwector of Littlewoods Pl
Non-executive director of Topps Tiles plc

3. Dean Moora {50)

Group Finance Director

Apponted in November 2003 Previously Group
Finance Director at T&S Stores Pl and Graham
Group Ple Also held vanous roles with Lioyds
Chemist Plc, Sketchley Pic, Blue Circle Industnes
and Grant Thernton

4 Nigel Alhance OBE (73)

Non-executive Director

Appeinted a director n 1962 he changed
to non-executive status in 1995 He s also
a director of a number of pnvate companies

5 ivan Fallon (53)

Non-executive Director ab,e

Appointed a director in 1994 He 1s the Chief
Executive of Independent News 8 Media (UK),
a director of Independent News & Media Plc,
Charman of Venvox and also a director of
Truphone Chaiman of the remuneration
committee

6 Lord Stone of Blackheath {65)
Non-executive Director a.b.c

Apported a director in 2002 Formerly with
Marks & Spencer Plc untit he retired as Joint
Managing Director in 1999 currently Deputy
Charman of Sindicatum Carbon Capital
Charman of the nomination committee

7 Phtltp Harand (524

Company Secretary

Joined the company n 2000 Previously
company secretary and associate director
of legal senaices at GUS Home Shopping Lid
Admitted as a solicrtor in 1981

8. John McGuare (55)

Non-executive Director ».b.c

Appointed a director in March 2004 Formerly
Charman of Corporate Banking for Royal Bank
of Scotland Group in the North of England
and Midland regions  Associate Councillor
with Manchester Chamber of Commerce

and Industry, Audit Chair of Stockport NHS
Foundation Trust Non executive director of
The Unversity of Manchester Charman

of the audit committee

a Audit committee member
b Remuneration cormmitiee mamber
¢ Namination comimittee member
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02. Many larger women are
unable to buy fashionable
bras on the high street.
That's why we've launched
Simply Yours, a range of
underwear that recognises
size shouldn’t be a constraint
for any woman who wants
beautdul looking lingene.



03. As a part of our “niche products and niche
customers” approach we’re continually looking
for underserved areas of the market. Younger,
larger menswear is one of those areas where
branded clothes are an essential element.
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04. We're always looking
for new product opportunities
and refining our existing
products and ranges to fill any
gaps we identify. One of our
main selling points is size,
with merchandise available
in a range of lengths and fits
not available elsewhere.
During the year we offered
over 180,000 different
product options.
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10. We’re developing a series
of incremental ranges, particularly in
the home and gift sectors. Simply Be
Home brings the same ideas and attitudes
that made Simply Be such a success to
a great range of contemporary home
products. We've also expanded our
Christmas range to include a broader range
of ideas for the perfect present, such as
perfume and jewellery. Our website
www.thebrilliantgiftshop.co.uk is now
offering these products all year round.
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their report and
accounts for the 53 weeks ended
1 March 2008

Activities and results

The pnncipal activities of the group 1s
retailing through direct home shopping

The activities are more fully explaned in the
Chief Executive’s Review onpages6to 9
Group profit before taxation from continuing
operations for the 53 weeks ended 1 March
2008 amounted to £78 Om (2007, £65 3m)
No geographical segmentation 1s provided
as, apart from a small operation in the
Republic of Ireland, all activities take place
in the United Kingdom

Enhanced Business Review

The company 1s required by the Companies
Act to set out in this report a fair review

of the business of the group dunng the

53 weeks ended 1 March 2008 and

the position of the group at the end of that
penod The company s also required to

set out a descnption of the principal nsks
and uncertainties facing the group The
nformation fulfilling the above requirements
can be found within this report and

within the Charman’s Statement, the

Chief Executive’s Review and the Financial
Review (pages 4 to 11) and are deemed

to be incorporated in this report by this
cross-reference

The board monitors a number of financial
and non-financial Key Performance
Indicators and these are detalled on
page 10 of the Financial Review

Dividends and reserves

An intenm dmdend of 2 65p per share
(2007, 2 19p} was paid on the ordinary
shares of the company on 4 January 2008
The net cost of this dividend was £7 2m
(2007, £6 5m)

Details of a return of value undertaken
by the company on 2 March 2007 are
set out below under the section headed
“Share capital”

The directors recommend a final dvidend
of 6 41p per share (2007, 5 34p) for the 53
weeks ended 1 March 2008, the net cost

of which will be £17 4m (2007, £14 3m)
The dwvidend will be paid on 25 July 2008

Movements 1n reserves are shown in note
27 onpage 72

Acquistions and disposals

On 14 December 2007 the group sold the
entire share capital of Zendorcom Limited,
its fulfilment subsidiary, for net cash
proceeds of £3 6m and a profit on disposal
of £0 8m

Share capital

Details of the company's authonsed and
1ssued share capital are shown in note

23 on page 71 Details of outstanding
employee share options and the operation
of the relevant scheme are shown in note
32 on page 74 No person has any special
nghts of control over the company’s share
caprtal and all Issued shares are fully paid

At an Extraordinary General Meeting of

the company held on 21 February 2007,
shareholders approved a return of value

of £79 9m, by way of a “B share” schema
of 27 pence per existing ordinary share of
10 pence each and the consohdation of
existing ordinary shares on the basis of 19
new ordinary shares of 11 1/19 pence each
for every 21 existing ordinary shares of 10
pence sach

295,906,293 B shares of 0 01 of a penny
each were allotted and 1ssued on 21
February 2007 On 2 March 2007, the
company declared a dvidend of 27 pence
per B share In accordance with the articles
of associabion of the company, following
the declaration of the dividend on the B
shares, all B shares were converted into
deferred shares The deferred shares
camed limited nghts and negligible value
On 13 March 2007, the company
repurchased all the deferred shares for an
aggregate consideration of one penny
These deferred shares were cancelled on
repurchase

Annual general meeting

The annual general meeting 1s to be held
on 1 July 2008 The notice convening the
annual general meeting 1s being sent to

members by way of separate circular
together with full explanatory notes on each
resolution to be proposed at the meeting

Directors

The biographies of the directors, all of
whom served throughout the year are
shown on page 12 In accordance with
the provisions of the Combined Code
(2006) those non executive directors who
have served a term of more than 9 years
on the board will be subject to annual
re-election Those affected by such a
prowvision are, Lard Allance of Manchester
CBE, Nigel Alhance OBE and Ivan Fallon
Accordingly they will retire at the next
annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for reappointment at that
meeting

In addition, In accordance with the Articles
of Association of the company Lord Stone
of Blackheath will retire at the next annual
general meeting and being eligible, offers
umself for reappointment at the meeting

Details of directors interests (beneficial
and non-beneficial) in shares of the
company are given In the Remuneration
Report on page 49 and are deemed to
be incorporated into this report by this
cross-refersnce

With regard to the appointment and
replacernent of directors, the company Is
governed by its Articles of Association, the
Combined Code and the Companies Acts
The powers of directors dre descnbed In
the board terms of reference and the
Corporate Governance Report on page 38

Directors’ and officers’ habilihes

The group maintains insurance for directors
and officers of the group, ndemnifying
themn aganst certan labiities incumed by
them whilst acting on behalf of the group

Major shareholders

In addition to the directors’ shareholdings
shown in the Remuneration Report on page
49, the following notifications had been
recetved from holders of notifiable interests
in the company’s 1ssued share capital as at
30 Apni 2008

Holding % of issued

share capital

Standard Life Investments 26,349,331 971
_egal & General Investment Management 9,345,869 344
Aberforth Partners 9,151,599 337
Liontrust Asset Management 8,784,703 324
Fidelity Investment Serices (Europe) 8,570,401 316
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Directors’ Report

Environmental, soctal and
governance Issues

Governance and nsk management

The board 1s committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate govemnance The
company monitors and evaluates nsk on an
ongoing basis as part of its commitment to
sustainable business Further detals are
contained in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 38 to 40

Ethics

The board regards achievement and
mamtenance of the tighest ethical
standards in business as an essential
feature in the way in which the group
conducts s business A code of ethical
conduct dealing with commercial standards,
conflicts of interest, gifts and hospitality

has been circulated to all staff All directors
and employees of the group are required

to comply with both the letter and the spint
of the code of ethical conduct in all their
dealings on behalf of the group and
directors and senior staff are required to

file an electronic etum detailing comphance
with the policy on gifts and hospitality,
online each month

In their dealings with each other, other
group companes and thetr shareholders,
customers, suppliers, competitors with
regulatory authonties and the wider
cormnmunity, employees are required to

= conduct all dealings with honasty, integnty
and faimess,

- comply with all relevant laws, regulations
and internal company policy;

= encourage and support a business culture
which exhibits and promotes ethical
conduct at all levels within the
organisation, and

- avoid any situation or action which could
cause damage to the group’s reputation

Directors of all group companies are
required to disclose details of refated party
transactions for review by the audit
committee

A register of grfts and benefits offered by,
and to, supphers and other parties whether
accepted or declhined 1s maintained under
the contro! of the head of intemal audit
Summary information 1s presented to the
group’s audit committes All employees,
managers and directors are required,

each month, to declare any offer of gifts

or hosprtality with a value of £25 cr

more, offered, accepted or declned

The greup has drawn up and 1ssued a
comprehensive “whistleblowing policy™
providing employees with an appropnate
means of communication in case of ethical
concems regarding the way the group
operates in its day-to-day activities

Environment

The group recognises its environmental
responsibilites and 1s committed to
mirrnising any darmage which its activities
may cause to the environment It has
delegated specific responsibility for
environtmental matters to a nominated
director on each of its pnncipal subsidiary
boards In addition, it actively pursues a
number of environmental policies, including
those designed to contain energy costs, the
recycling of paper and packaging matenals
wheraver practical and the use of
information technology systems to reduce
the level of consumption of paper by its
employees The Packaging Waste Directive
(94/62/EC), requires larger companies to
recover and recycle the packaging waste
that they put into the envircnment The
group was one of the first organisations

to join the Valpak Organisation, which s

a nationwide sustainable recovery and
recycling nfrastructure

The group’s packaging technologists look
at every product sold withun the group’s
publications to ensure its compliance to
European Environmental Law with particular
emphasis on the Pack Minimisation
{Essential Requirements) 1998 Regulations

All packaging components are made from
matenals and processes causing minimum
harmmn to the environment when aither
manufactured, processed, recycled or
eventually disposed of All of the group’s
paper packaging 1s made from a minmum
of 75% recycled paper and all other paper
15 sourced from 100% recyclable papers
Wherever practically possible packaging
matenals and processes are denved from
managed and renewable sources The
majonty of the paper used by the group in
its publications comes from such sources
The group adopts a “cradle to grave”
view on all packaging products used by it

In the year under review the following
environmental ‘mileposts’ were achieved -

= 174K (11%) savings in Utities Charges
{direct by reduced consumpton + cost
avoidance by selective contract
negohations)

+ Group Carbon Footpnnt reduced by
6% from 06/07 leve), (35% less than

05/06 level)

* Landfill waste levels reduced by 5% from
06/07 level (75% less than 05/06 level),
with commensurate increase in recycling

* Bxasting recycling contract expanded to
include bottles (glass + plastic), dnnks
cans and plastics

¢ New Group Electncity Contract — starting
on 1 October 2008 — will be via a 100%
Green energy provider

» New contract established regarding eco-
fnendly disposal of defective fluorescent
tubes and control gear consumed by the

group

Employees

- Employee involvement. The group firmly
believes that continuing success can only
be achieved by an enthusiastic, motivated
and well-trained workforce Consequently,
considerable resources are devoted to staff
fratning Departmental team brefings are
held and a staff attitude survey I1s
conducted regularly Over 500 group
employees either hold shares in the
company or have options/ awards to
acquire them through the group’s vanous
share option and long-term incentive
schernes

The vast majonty of training and
development i1s delivered by our in-house
learring and development team who work
closely with directors and managers across
the whole business This enables them to
identify what development 1s required and
design and dehver a wide varety of
interventions to mest those needs

As well as bespoke interventions, there 1s
also a suite of 12 workshops covenng a
range of topics from negotiation skills to
effective nfluencing All employees are free
to request any of these workshops, which
encourages them to be proactive and take
ownership of therr own development

Since 2003, the company, working in
partnership with Dale Carnegie, has also
taken over a2 hundred managers through
a tarlor-made leadership development
programme, which encourages cross-
functiona! collaboration and the
identificabon of revenue generating/cost
saving innovation projects

The MBTI (Myers Bnggs Type Indicator)
has also been used effectively across
the business to enhance personal and
leadership development, team-building
and communication

- Consultation Constructive retationshrps
with the trade unions which reprasent the
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Directors’ Report

group’s employees {pnncipally USDAW and
SATA) are encouraged Elements of

the group are covered by a collective
bargaining arrangement with USDAW

- Equal Opportuntties. The group
supports the prnciple of equal
opportunities in employment and 1s
opposed to all forms of discnmunation,
including those on the grounds of colour,
race, nahonalty, ethric or nabonal ongin,
religion, gender, age, sexual onentation,
mantal status or disability

Our selechon processes for recruitment,
promotron, trairung and development are
non-dhscnminatory We believe it 1s in the
best interests of employees and the group
to provide these opportunibes to the most
suitable candidates

Applications for employment by disabled
persons are welcomed and are fully
considered, beanng n mind the aptitudes
of the applicant concemned [n the event
of any employee becoming disabled,
every effort 1s made to ensure that therr
employment with the group continues and
that appropnate training 1s arranged it is
the policy of the group that the trarming,
career development and promotion of
disabled persons should, as far as possible,
be dentical to that of other employees

Each year the group rewards and
recognises significant contnbution from its
customer contact centre staff by imviting
them to compete for a norination to
receive an award for cutstanding customer
senice The award ceremony 1S a 'Red-
Carpet’ event which 1s well receved by

all staff who are nominated for an award

- Health and safety The group's policy

1s to adhere to all relevant legislation to
ensure, as far as 1s reasonably practicable,
the health, safety and welfare at work of
all employees and of other people working
on our premises but not employed by

the group We endeavour to ensure

that products and services used in the
workplace or sold by us are designed

so that they are safe and without nsk
when property used Pre-employment
questionnaires, physiotherapy, audiometry,
an improved management referral process
and rehabilitation programs have enabled
occupational health 1ssues to be better
controlled

Cumulatrve group acoident statistics for

the last 12 months immediatety pnior to
the publication of thus report show a 27%
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reduction on the same penod last year,
with both reportable accidents and days
lest through acciderit showing reductions

Customers

One of the key factors of the group's
success Is the quality of its relationship
with its customers Regular customer
satisfaction surveys are conducted, both
directly and through third parties, to ensure
that the group closely monitors the opinions
and requirements of its customers In
addition, telephone enguiry and complant
calls recaived from customers are analysed
and appropnate action taken to improve
the levels of service offered to them

Suppliers

The group sources products and services
from across the world A significant
proportion of this expenditure s with
supphers with whom the group has a long-
term relationship, which helps to provide a
continually improving quality of product and
service to customers, whilst reducing costs

It 1s the group’s policy to comply with the
terms of payment agresd with its suppliers
Trade creditors of the group at 1 March
2008 represented 41 days (2007, 34 days)
of purchases

The group 15 aware of the potental social
impact of its business dealings, particularly
In developing countnes Qur standard
terms and cenditions for the purchase

of all goods for resale require that, in
relation to the manufacture of merchandise,
the suppher warrants that all labour, safety
and other relevant laws in the country of
manufacture will be sinctly obsarved with
respect to all workers at ali stages of
production

Community

The group believes that it has a
responstbility to invest in the comrmurities
in which it operates The fanwly, health and
well-being programme, now in its fifth year,
prowvides additional benefits for all our
employees ts actively supported and
continues The group maintans close links
with the Chnstie Hospital in Manchester,
the Mane Cune Foundation and the

Retall Trust The group encourages staff

to participats in fundraising activities for
these, and other, worthwhite causes and
maximises the potential donation by
matching the level of money raised by
employees to double the size of the
donaton

In the last financial year, via this method,
more than £136,000 was raised for
noteworthy causes such as the Cancer
Research Foundation and MacMillan
Cancer Support The group has previously
agreed to donate its redundant IT
equipment to chanties operating In third
world and developing countnes

Chamtable and poliical donations
Dunng the year, the group made chantable
donations of £114,392 (2007, £52,371)
principally to local chanties serang the
communities in which the group operates
No political donations have been made
(2007, nul)

Pension fund

The group continues to ensure that the

N Brown Group Pension Fund is managed in
accordance with best practice and current
legislation, including the Pensions Act
1995 The fund’s assets are administered
by a trustees company which 1s controlled
by a board of directors, all of whom have

a vested mterest in the performance of the
fund, representing the interests of pension
fund members, pensioners and N Brown
Group plc The fund's investments are
managed by Aberdeen Asset Management
Uimited and Lega! and General Assurance
(Pensions Management) Limited and the
actuanal and administration services are
provided by Mercer Human Resource
Consulting Umited

The N Brown Group Pension Fund was
closed to new entrants with effect from 31
January 2002 New employees joming the
group after 31 January 2002 and existing
employees who had not joined the N
Brown Group Pension Fund as at that date,
are entitted to join a stakeholder pension
scheme providing a defined contnbution
pension amangerment, administered by
Prudential Stakeholder Pensions

As part of the B share retumn of value in
early 2007, the directors also decided to
increase the contnbutions towards the
funding deficit in the N Brown Group
Pension Fund by paying a one off
contnbution of £15 milion at the same time
that the return of value was made, followed
by three further contnbutions of £4 milhon
per annum for three years, with the final
payment subject to review The Pensions
Regulator made a determination on 23
January 2007 to 1ssue a clearance
statement in relabion to the return of value
In view of the company’s support of the
pension scheme



Directors’ Report

Financial nsk management, objectves
and policies

The group 1 exposed to certain financial
nsks, namely mterest rate nsk, currency
nsk, lquidity nsk and credit nsk Information
regarding such financial nsks 1s detaled in
note 20 on page 68 The group's nsk
management polcies and procedures are
also discussed n the Financial Review on
page 11

Change of contrel

There are a number of agreements that take
effect, alter or terminate upon a change of
control of the company such as commercial
contracts, bank loan agreements, property
lease arangernents and employee share
plans None of these are considered to be
significant in terms of their likely impact on
the business of the group as a whole

Director’s service contracts are tenmminable
by the company on gving 12 month's
notice There are no agreements between
the company and its directors or employees
that provide for additional compensation for
loss of office or employment that occurs
because of a takeover bid

Tax status

The company 1s not a close company withm
the meaning of the Income and Corporation
Taxes Act 1988

Audrtors

A resolution to reappoint Deloitte & Touche
LLP as auditors to the company and to
authonse the directors to fix their
remuneration will be proposed at the
annual general meeting on 1 July 2008

Liability

All the information supplied in the
Charrman’s Statement on pages 4 to 5,

the Chref Executive’s Review on pages 6

to 9, Financial Review on pages 10to 11,
Remuneration Report and the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 38 to 49 form
part of this Directors’ Report Any hability for
the informatton 15 restncted to the extent
prescnbed in the Companies

Act 2008

Directors’ responsibtithes

The directors are responsible for prepanng
the annual report and the financial
statements The directors are required to
prepare financial statements for the group
in accerdance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS} and have
chosen to prepare company financial
statements in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {UK GAAP} Company law requires

the directors to prepare such financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, UK
GAAP, the Compantes Act 1985 and Article
4 of the IAS Regulation

In the case of UK GAAP accounts, the
directors are required to prepare financial
statements for each financial penod which
give a true and farr view of the state of
affairs of the company and of the profit

or loss of the company for that penod

In prepanng these financial statements,
the directors are required to

* select suitable accounting policies
and then apply them consistently,

* make judgements and estimates that
are reasonable and prudent, and

+ state whether applicable accounting
standards have been followed

In the case of IFRS accounts, Interational
Accounting Standard 1 requires that
financial statements present faily for

each financial year the group’s financial
posttion, financial performance and cash
flows This requires the faithful
representation of the effects of transactions,
other events and conditions in accordance
with the defimtions and recognibon cntena
for assets, iabiities, Income and expenses
set out in the International Accounting
Standards Board's ‘Framework for the
preparation and Prasentation of Financial
Staterments’ tn virtually all circumstances,
a tar presentation will be achieved by
comphance with all apphicable Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards Directors are
also required to

+ properly select and apply accounting
polcies,

* present information, including accounting
policies, in a manner that provides
relevant, rehable, comparable and
understandable nformation, and

* provide additional disclosures when
compliance with the specific requirements
in IFRS 1s insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of parbcular
transactions, other events and conditions
on the entity’s financial position and
financial performance

The directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose
with reascnable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the company, for
safeguarding the assets, for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other megulanties
and for the preparation of a directors’ report
and directors' remuneration report which
comply with the requirements of the
Companies Act

The directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integnty of the company
website Legislation in the United Kingdom
goveming the preparatton and dissemmation
of financial statements may differ from
legisiation in other junsdictions

Each of the directors at the date of approval
of thus report confirms that

— So far as the director 1s aware, there IS
no relevant audit information of which
the company’s auditors are unaware, and
— The dirsctors have taken all the steps they
ought to have taken as a director to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit
nformation and to establish that the
company’'s auditors are aware of that
information

This confimation 1s given and should
be interpreted in accordance with the
prowisions of section 234ZA of the
Comparnies Act 1985

W thE board

A ¢

Philip F Harland LL B (Hons} {Solicitor)
Sacretary

9 May 2008

Responsibiity Statement
We confirm that to the best of our
knowledge

(a) the financial statements prepared in
accordance with Intemational Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted for
use in the European Unwon, give a true
and fair view of the assets, llabilities,
financial position and profit of the
company and group,

{b) the management report Incorporated
into the directors’ report includes a
far review of the devetopment and
performance of the business and the
position of the company and the group,
together with a descnption of the
pnncipal nsk and uncertainties that
they face

By order of the board

f&&q\
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Alan White
Chief Executive

Dean Moore
Finance Director
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Corporate Governance Report

Combmed Code

The board 1s committed to high standards
of corporate governance and compliance
with the pnnciples in the Combined Code
on Corporate Governance issued by the
UK Financial Reporting Council in 2006
{the “Code"} The purpose of this statement
is to explain how the company has applied
the pnnciples of good governance set out
in the code

For the year in review the company has
been In comphance with the provisions
set out in section 1 of the Code

Board composition

The board cumrently compnses seven
members, five of whom are non executive
There is a clear dvision of responsibilities
between the Chaimmnan, Lord Alkance of
Manchester CBE, who 1s responsible for
the effective operation of the beard and the
Chief Executive, Alan White, who 1s
responsible for the group's operational
performance

The five non executive directors compnse
the Chairman, Lord Alhance of Manchester
CBE, Nigel Allance OBE, both of whom are
not regarded by the board as independent
under the prowvisions of the Combined
Code, and Ivan Fallon, Lord Stone of
Blackheath and John McGuire all of whorm
are considered by the board to be
ndependent The senior Independent non
executive director 1s lvan Fallon

lvan Fellon was appointed to the board In
October 1994 lvan Fallon has served on
the board for a penod beyond which the
Code suggests that his independence may
be affected The board, nonetheless, holds
van Fallen to be independent and that his
broad-based commercial expenence,
together with his extensive knowledge of
the group’s businesses ganed durng his
thirteen years as a non executive director
with the group 1s invaluable to the board

The board considers that it had a majonty
of independent non executive directors
dunng the year It 1s considered that the
composttion of the board dunng the year
had the necessary batance of executive
and non executive directors providing the
skills and expenience appropnate for the
requirements of the business

All directors joining the board are required
to submit themselves for election at the
next followmng annual general meeting They
are subject to re-election every third year
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thereafter All non executive directors have
wrnitten letters of appointment These letters
of appointment stipulate terms of indefinite
duration terminable on siX months notice
All Istters of appointment are subject to
early termmnation provisions, for example
allowing earier termination wathout
compensation in the event a director 1s

not re-elected upon retirement by rctation
" accordance with the articles In ine with
the Code all non executive directors who
have served for nine years will be subject
to annual re-election As such, Lord Allance
of Manchester CBE, Nigel Allance OBE
and lvan Fallon will be subject to re-election
at the forthcoming AGM Sufficient
biographical detail will be provided in the
circular accompanying the AGM notice to
enable shareholders to make an informed
decision on any re-election resolution All
appointments to the board are made on
ment against objective cntena and with the
ntention of ensunng that appointees have
sufficient trme available to devote to the
business of the board

Detauls of directors’ contract terms are
shown in the Remuneration Report on
page 45

Board operation

An effective board of directors leads and
controls the group The members of the
board are shown on page 12 of this report
The board met 8 times dunng the year
Director's attendance at board meetings
was as follows

Attendance  Apologles

Lord Alhance of

Manchester CBE 7 2
van Fallon 8 1
Alan White g o]
Lord Stone of Blackheath 9 0
Nigel Allance OBE 9 0
Dean Moocre 9 0
John McGuire 9 0

The board is collectively responsible for
providing sffectve leadership and promoting
the success of the group It has a fomal
schedule of matters reserved for its approval
(a copy of which i1s available on the
company's website, www nbrown co uk)
This document includes decisions on all
major strategic 1ssues, approval of financial
statements, capital and operating
expenditure, investment, treasury and
dividend policy, overseeing the group’s

nsk control procedures, board membership
and that of its commuttees Currently, at
least one of ts meetings i each year

{held over two days) Is entirely devoted

to the development and review of
corporate strategy and the group's

three year plan The board delegates the
day-to-day management of the group to
the J D Willams & Company Limited
operational board

Comprehensive bnefing papers including
management accounts, broker analyses
and shareholder analyses are circulated

to each director in a imely manner not
less than seven days prior to each beard
meeting Procedures are in place to enable
all directors to obtain independent
professional advice in respect of their
fiduociary dutiss and obhgations and all
board members have full and direct access
to the company secretary, who 1s a fully
admitted solicitor and who attends all
board and committee meetings The
Secretary 1s charged with providing advice
to the board on regulatory issues, matters
of corporate govemnance, continuing
director education and ensurnng the

timely provision of information

Since the last report the board has once
again undertaken a formal apprassal of its
own performance, that of the Chairman
and that of its commiftees The process
conststed of iIndividua! assessment by
detaled questicnhaire completed by all
directors The results were compiled by
the company secretary for review by the
Charman and then joint review by the
board The performance of the Chaimnan
was apprased by the semor non executive
director In consultation with the other
board members The Chief Executive’s
performance was appraised by the
Chairman and the non executive directors
The performance of the Finance Director
(the only other executive director on the
board) was camed out in the same manner
as the Chief Executive

The process of evaluation 1s designed to
ascertain whether each director continues
to contnbute effectively and 1s devoted to
the role

Committee structure

The board has delegated specific
authontes to a number of sub committees
to deal with specific aspects of
management and controf of the group

All of these committees meet regulary
and have formal wntten terms of reference
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which are available for inspection on
request and are also avallable on the
company’s website The minutes of the
meetings of these committees are
circutated to all commititee members in
advance of the next following committee
meeting, at which they are ratified The
following commuttees of the board have
been established

» Audit committee
* Remuneraticn committee
* Nomination commuttee

‘Twice each year the Chaiman of the
committee makes a formal report to the
board of directors conceming the work
camed out by the commuiitee and its
recommendations to the board

Audrt commuttee

The audit committee consists entirety of
independent non executive directors The
current chairman s John McGuire The
other members are lvan Faflon and Lord
Stone of Blackheath All members of the
audit committee are regarded as having
recent and relevant financial expenence
The committee meetings are attended by
the Chief Executive, the Finance Director
and the Head of Internal Audit as required

The committee met two times n the year
Committee attendance was as follows

Attendance Apologies

Lord Stone of Blackheath 2 0
John McGurre 2 0
Ivan Fallon 1 1

The audit committea considers the nature
and scope of the audit process (both
internal and external) and its effectiveness
Tha committee reviews and approves the
internal audit programme, meets with the
external auditors and considers the annual
and intenm financial statements before
submission to the board The commitiee
also reviews the group’s system of intemat
control and reports its findings twice yearly
to the board Each year the committee
holds a meeting to which certain sentor
employees of the group are Invited This
meeting 15 not attended by the executive
directors or the chairman In addition the
committee meets with the external auditors,
in the absance of the executive directars,
at least twice a year The chaimnan of the
committee also holds “ad-hoc” mestings
with the Finance Director, the external

auditors or the group’s internal audit team
as and when required In the year under
review four such meetings have taken place

The board consider that the processes
of the audit cormmittee cormply with the
guidance i1ssued by the Smith Committee

As stated above, part of the role of the
audit committee IS to review the
independence of the company’s auditors
The company’s external auditors, Deloitte
& Touche LLP have provided non-audit
services to the company in the form of tax,
regulatory and remuneration advice The
audit commuttee 15 aware that providing
audit and non-audit advice could give nse
to a potential conflict of interest To address
this concem recognised by the audit
committee, when the need has ansen the
remuneration committee has sought advice
on executive remuneration 1ssues, whera
appropnate, from independent advisors
who do not provide the group wath other
services (further details are set out in the
Remuneration Report on page 41} Some
due diligence and other corporate strategic
work 1s handled by other external advisors
The audit committee has concluded that in
the crcumstances, it 1s satisfied that the
mndependence of the auditors, Deloitte &
Touche LLP, has not been compromised

Remuneration committee

The remunerabton commuttee consists
entirely of independent non executive
directors The current chairman is lvan
Fallon The other members are Lord Stone
of Blackheath and John McGuire

The remuneration comrmittes met four

times this year Member's attendance
was as follows

Attendance Apologies

Lord Stone of Blackheath 4 0
John McGuire 4 0
lvan Fallon 4 0

The purpose of this committee 1s to review
and formulate the company’s remunerzation
policy and consider how the company 1s
apphying the pnnciples of the Code in
respect of directors’ remuneration

Further details are set out in the
remuneration report on pages 41 to 49
which will be put 1o an adwsory vote by
the members at the company's annual
general mesting

Nominations committee

The nominatons committee 1s chared
by Lord Stone of Blackheath The other
members are currently Lord Allance of
Manchester CBE, Ivan Fallon and John
McGuire The formal terms of reference
for this committee require it to make
recommendations to the board for
appointments of directors {including
directors of the operating company board
J D Willlams & Company Limited) and
other senior executive staff Where
appropnate, the chief executive and
company secretary attend meetings

of the neminations committee

The nommations committee evaluates
board candidates on ment, against
objective cntena, taking into account the
skills and expenence required Where
appropnate, external search consultants
are enhisted

The company secretary 1s responsible
for the induction of new directors

New directors are provided with a
comprehensive pack of information
{including terms of reference, Information
regarding the busmess and guidance on
therr roles and duties as directors) and
meetngs/site visits with key employee
contacts are arranged as appropriate

The nominations committee had no
occasion to meet this year

Internal control

The diectors have overall responsibility for
ensunng that the group mantains a sound
system of mternal control, to give them
reasonable assurance regarding effective
and efficient operations and compliance
with laws and regulations There are, of
course, mherent lirrtations in any system
of intemal contro! and accordingly even
the most effective system can provida only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against loss or faiture The board has
established a continuous process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the
significant nsks the group faces

The boand continues to operate a formal
nsk management process throughout the
group A cyclical programme of
assaessments of operational, financial and
other business nsks has been implemented
at each pnncipal operating subsidiary of the
group {each cycle compnsing at least two
reviews annually), which takes into account
the intemal controls that exist to mitigate
the impact of those nsks Any significant
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residual nsks are then evaluated and action
plans to further reduce their impact are
intiated and monitored where necessary

Seventeen such cycles have been camed
out to date A nsk management committee,
which met three times iast year, oversees
the above process and reports progress

to the audit committee, which thereafter
reports to the board and draws all
appropnate matters to its attention

The nsk cornmittes, together with the
audit committee, I1s also responsible for
ensunng that the pnnciples of sound nsk
management and effective internal control
are fully embedded within the orgamisation,
a process which the board, and the audit
committee, has satisfied itself has
contnued to operate dunng the year

In pursuance of the above, the board

of directors {through the processes of
the audit committee) has reviewed the
effectivenass of the system of internal
control for the year under review As well
as receming regular reports from the nsk
management committes described above,
the board {through the audit committee)
discusses with the external auditors the
results of ther work and any resulting
internal control issues, and also reviews
the work camed out by the intemal audit
department, including morutonng the
implementation of actions ansing from
previous audits

The intemal audit function 1s independent
of management and the head of the
function has direct access to the chief
executive and the chairman of the audit
committes Internal audit plans are
ciscussed and agreed annually batween
the head of internal audit and the aucht
committee

Appropnate intemnal financial controls are
operated throughout the group, some of
which have already been referred to in this
statement Cther examples include the
exstence of a well defined group
organisation structure, with clear knes

of responsibiity and explicit authonty
delegated to dwvisionat boards and
executive management, and a
comprehensive financial reporting system
which communicates plans, budgets and
monthly resuits to relevant levels of
management, including the board
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The company has complied and continues
to comply with the prowisions of the code
on internal controls, and the relevant

parts of the Turnbull and Smith Guidance
There 1 an ongoing process in place for
identifying, evaluating and managing the
significant nsks facing the group that has
been in place throughout the year under
review and to the date of approval of the
accounts This process has been reviewed
regularly by the audit cormrmittee and

the board, and accords with guidance
appended to the Code The board has not
identified nor been advised of any failings
or weaknesses which 1t has determined te
be significant

Relations with investors

The company believes in the importance

of good communications with shareholders,
both msttutional and indradual investors
Institutional investors, fund managers

and analysts are kept informed of the
company's overall strategy through

regular meetings and ‘roadshows’

All non executive directors are kept
informed of shareholders’ views through
detailed feedback and analyst’s and broker
reports tabled at each board meeting

The senor independent director 1s avallable
to meet with, and understand, the views

of major shareholders

The company aims to ensure that all
shareholders have full and bmely access

to information it discloses and that
shareholdars have opportunities o meet
with management through ad hoc and one-
to-one meetings at least twice a year at the
announcemeant of results and also at events
such as the analysts dinner and financial
presentation held in January 2008 and

by constructive use of the AGM As well

as being provided with a copy of the
annual report and results announcements,
our website provides shareholders with
comprehensive and accessible information
about the group
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Introduction

This report has been prepared int
accordance with the Companies Act

1985 as amended by the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002
(“the regulattons™ This report also meets
the relevant requirements of the listing rules
of the Financial Services Authonty and
descnbes how the board have applied the
pnnciples of good govemnance relating to
directors’ remuneration

This report will be put to an advisory

vote of the company's shareholders at the
annhual general meeting on 1 July 2008
The auditors are required to report on the
‘audited’ section of thus report and to state
whether, in their opinton, that part of the
report has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985
{as amended by the regulations) The report
1s therefore divided into separate secticns
for audited and unaudited inforrmation

Unaudited information

Remuneration cornmittee

Dunng the financial year, the remuneration
committee of the board (“the committee”)
compnsed Ivan Fallon (chairman), Lord
Stone of Blackheath and John McGuire,

all of whom are non executive directors
and considered by the company to be
independent The committee members
have no personal financial interest (other
than as shareholders) in matters to be
decided, no potential conflicts of interest
ansing from cross-directorships and no
day-to-day involvement in running the
business The committee has formal wntten
terms of reference which are avallable for
sharsholders to ingpect at the registered
office of the company and on the corporate
website The committee met three times
dunng the year In guestion

In setting remuneration levels of the
executive directors the committee had
regard to the findings of a remuneration
survey and research 1ssued generally by
Deloitte & Touche LLFP, the company’s
auditors, who have also provided audit and
tax services to the group, Pinsent Masons
LLP prowide legal advice in relation to the
share incentive airangements and have
also provided general legal adwvice to the
group The committee recetved advice
concerning the chief executive’s
rernuneration and specifically his pension
arrangements from Mercer Human
Resource Consulting Limited, AON
Consulting Limited, Mr Charles Evers
Pension Consultant, Delaitte & Touche

LLP and Pinsent Masons LLP The latter
two are general advisers to the company
who were not specifically appointed by

the committee Mercer Human Resource
Consutting Limited, ACN Consuliing
Limited and Charles Evers were specifically
appointed by the committee In determinmg
executive directors’ remuneration for the
year, the committee consulted Alan White,
the Chief Executive No director played
any part In any discussion about his own
remuneration

The board have reviewed the group’s
compliance with the Combined Code

2006 (“the Code”) on remuneration related
matters It 1s the opinion of the board that
the group complied with the remuneraton
related aspects of the Code dunng the year

Remuneration pohey for executive
directors and senior executives

The committee’s policy 1s designed

to ensure that the main elements of the
remungration package attract, motivate
and retain executive directors and senior
execubves by offenng them competitive
remunerabon packages, which arg
prudently constructed and hinked to

strengthen individua! and corporate
performance targets The normal
remuneration package for executive
directors compnses basic salary, an annual
performance-related bonus (including a
deferred element wath a matching share
award subject to a further peformance
conditron), a long-term incentive program,
a pension and other benefits in kind
including a company car allowance and
medical msurance

The committee regulady reviews the
structure of the executive package,
including the balance between fixed

and vanable pay to ensure that the
remuneration remains competitive and
challenging The policy will continue to
apply for the current financial year The
committee will review the policy on an
annual basis and recommend changes as
and when appropriate The committee I1s
entitled to consider comporate performance
on Environmental, Soctal and Governance
(‘ESGY) issues as well as any other pertinent
1ssue when settling the remuneration of any
executive director The commuttee Is of the
opinion that the structure of the incentive
arrangements for seror managers does not
raise ESG nsks by inadvertently motivating
Iresponsible behaviour

A review of the bonus structure and the
use of long-term share based incentives
was undertaken in the year The charts
below demonstrate the balance between
fixed and vanable performance based pay
for each executive director

Basic salary

When determining the salary of the
executive directors the committee has
taken into consideration the levels of base
salary for ssmilar positions with comparable
status, responsibility and skills in competitor
organisations of broadly similar size and

Analysis of Performance vs Non Performance selement of Remuneration Package

I Fixed Pay
[ vanable Performance Related Pay

30% 33%

Alan White Dean Moore
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complexity, In particular those existing

n the home shopping and retail market
sectors, the performance of the mdidual
executive director; the individual executive
director's expenence and responsibiities,
and the pay and condibons throughout the
group Salanes and conditions are reviewed
on an annual basis

Annual performance-related bonus
Each executive director and senitor
executive participates in one of a number
of annual performance-related bonus
schemes Each scheme is designed to
stretch the performance of the executive
and 1s linked to the growth in annual profit,
the achievement of other business targets
and the achievement of personal

objectives These targets are reviewed and
agreed by the committee at the beginning
of each financial year to ensure that they
are appropnate to the current market
conditions, the objectives of the company
and that they continue to remain stretching
and challenging Payments under the
annual bonus schemes consist of an
immediate cash element, a deferred
element in shares (net oftaxjanda 11
matching share element based on the pre-
tax value of the bonus used to acquire the
deferred shares Matching shares are
released two years from therr date of award
provided the executive retains his deferred
shares and remains in employment
Previously the provision of the matching
shares was not subject to the satisfaction

of any additional performance

requirements It was the opinton of the
commuttee that the difficulty in satisfying
the underlying performance reguirements to
eamn the annual bonus was commensurate
with the potential value of the maximum
immediate and deferred bonus payable
However, since 2006 the grant of matching
shares has been made subject to an
additional perfformance requirement for all
future grants The matching shares will not
be 1ssued unless the growth in earmings per
share Is equal to or greater than the growth
of the retal pnce index over the deferral
penod The levels of bonus earned for this
year are sat out In the following table

Name Alan White Dean Moore
2007/08 Bonus & Deferred Shares Paid £465,905 £246,875
2007/08 Contingent Matching Share Award £116,476 £61,719
Total 2007/08 Bonus & Matching Share Award

as a %age of Salary 112% 116%

The performance targets used for 2007/08
and 2008/09 are based upon a combination
of profit, an increase in the volumes of
customers placing an order and the
achievement of personal objectives

The maximum potential bonus payable

to an executive director for 2007/08 was
100% of basic salary of which, If achieved,
75% will be immediately payable in cash
and 25% will be deferred It has been
agreed to keep these levels for 2008/09

Share incentives

It 1s the policy of the committee that
executive directors and senior executives
generally receive an annual award under
either the long-term incentive plan or one
of the company’s executive share opton
schemes Before allowing any incividual
to participate in both the long-term
incentve plan and one of the executive
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share option schemes in any one year,

the committee will carefully assess the
expected value of the combined total
award, particularly if it exceeds the
maximum value possible under either
scheme individually In addition, it 1s the
committee's policy only to grant combined
grants where there are some or all of the
following circumstances

* to minimise the P8L cost to the company
and dilutive cost for shareholders for a
given share commitment to an executive,

« where different performance conditions
apply to awards and options, or

* on imibial recruitment of a seror executive

For the year under review no combined
awards were made In respect of share
awards the performance condition 1s based
upon Total Shareholder Retum (“TSR™)

TSR as a performance condition 1s
considered appropnate for the following
reasons

« market research indicated that TSRs a
more approphate and common measure
for long-tenm incentive arrangements
within FTSE 250 companies,

+ a TSR performance condition 15 more
closely aligned with shareholder interests
than EPS Growth,

* a TSR performance condition more
closely evaluates company performance
agamnst a basket of comparator
companies in the same sector; and

+ a TSR performance condition 15 more
eastly understood and measurable by
ehgible executives and 1s considered to
be a suitably challenging measure in the
current retail sector trading environment
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The committee determines whether the
TSR performance ¢condibions for share
awards and options are satisfied by ranking
the company over a 3 year performance
penod measured from the date of grant
against a matnx of comparator comparnes
cumrently compnsing Alexon, Blacks
Leisure, Debenhams, DSG Intemnational,
Findel, Flying Brands, French Connection,
Home Retall Group, Homaestyle, Instore,
JJB Sports, Kesa Electncal, Laura Ashley,
Marks & Spencer, Moss Bros Group,
Mothercare, Next, Stylo and Woaolworths
The committee determines which
companies are to be added or removed
from this comparater group For 2005
awards (vesting 2008) a ranking In the

Long-term Incentive Share Plan

lower quartite will mean that no award will
vest, a 10% to 50% award will vest in the
third quartile depending on rank, a 60% to
95% award will vest in the second quartile
depending on rank and a 100% award will
vest in the upper quartle regardless of rank

For 2006 awards and onwards the
committee determined that if TSR 1s below
the median ranking company there will be
no entitement to any of the award For
median performance the entitlement wali
be 50% of the maximum award nsing

For share option schemes a performance
condition of growth in earnings per share
(“EPS") applies (see below)

Long-term incentive share plan
Executrve directors and certain senior
executves are eligible to participate in

the group's long-term incentive share plan
The plan provides appropnate incentives
to reward sustamned success through the
achievement of challenging business
1argets, thereby better ahgning the
interests of shareholders and executives

pro rata in the second quartile to 90%

depending on rank A 100% award will
vest upon the company ranking 1n the

upper quartile regardless of rank

Descnption

Maximum Annuat Award {%age Salary)

150%

Nature of Right

To receve a fixed number of shares subject to the satisfaction of conditions

Performance Penod

Three years

Performance Requirements

TSR subject to decile ranking of company against comparator group of companies
calculated over a performance penod of 3 years

Additional Features

None

Executive directors are normally eligible to receive up to 75% of their salary as an award under the LTIP scheme For the award years
2004 to 2007 (inclusive) Alan White was granted LTIP awards equivalent to 105% of his salary

Executive share option schemes

The rationale for executives participating in the opbon schemes is the same as for their participation in the LTIP

Term

Description

Schemes

Inland Revenue Approved Option Scheme and the 2000 Unapproved Option Scheme —~
Aggregate under both Approved and Unapproved Schemes

Maximum Annual Award

200% of remuneration (salary, bonus and commission)
{%age Remuneration) “Normal™ maximum 100% of remuneration

Nature of Right

A nght to purchase a fixed number of shares at the market price on the date of grant
subject to the satisfaction of conditions

Performance Penod

Three years from the date of grant

Performance requirements

Growth in EPS equal to, or greater than, the growth of the Retail Pnce Index {(“RPI”) +8 2%
(equivalent tc 3% p a compound growth) over the three year performance penod
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All employee share schemes

The group operates an Inland Revenue
approved savings related share option
scheme for the benefit of group employees,
provided they have completed at least

six months” service Eligible employees,
including executive directors and senior
executives, may be granted options over
the company’s shares at a discount of up
1o 20% to the prevailing market price at the
time of grant of the option, which {subject
to certain conditions) can be exercised
after either three or five years

Over 500 eligible group employees
currently participate in the scheme

An all-employee share ownershup plan
{now known as a share incentive plan) was
established and approved by shareholders
in July 2000 No inwitations or awards have
yet been made under this plan

Pension

The group operates a number of pension
schemes for the benefit of all eligible
employess Alan White 1s a member of the
N Brown Group Pension Fund (“the fund”),
which 1s an Inland Revenue registered
defined benefit scheme The group has
also made an unregistered promise of
benefits in addition to those of the fund
such that overall the group prowides for
hirn, at bus normal retirement age of 60,

a pension accrual rate of 1/40th of
pensicnable salary (to give a maximum
pension of 2/3 of pensionable salary at
normal retirement date, including retained
benefits and benefits eamed in the fund
pnor to 1999) He is also provided with a

lump sum death benefit of four times
pensicnable salary The pension IS
calculated on a final salary basis for service
prior to 30 June 2005 and from then on a
career average revalued earmings basis
Provided Alan White remains in serwvice untl
August 2010, his previous penod of service
with the group from 1985 to 1999 will be
included in full in the calculation of his
current pension Should Alan White not
rernatm in service until August 2010 his
previous service shall count towards the
calculation of his current pension on a pro
rata basis In each case the pension will be
subject to the above two-thirds maximum
In the case of early retirement the whole
pension will be reduced for eary payment
in hne with the fund rules and other factors
agreed with Alan White On retrement from
the group, both Mr White and the group
have an option that any pension payable to
Mr White in excess of the amount payable
under the registered scheme can be paid
as a single lump sum No part of a
director's pensionable salary includas
remuneration other than basic pay

All members of the fund cumently pay
contnbutions at the rate of 8% of
pensionable salary The group bears the
cost of providing tha lump sum death
benefit and the balance of contnbubions
necessary to finance fund benefits

The fund 1s now closed to new entrants
Eligible employees who would ctherwisa
have been entitied to join the fund are

now able to join a new defined contnbubon
pension scheme

Dean Moore 1s a member of the defined
contnibution scheme Members of this
schemne pay contnbuticns at the rate of
6% of pensionable salary The company
contnbutes 6% of Dean Moore’s annual
salary into the defined contnbution scheme

Benefits m kind
Executive directors receive the following
additional benefits

* a car and fuef allowance, and
* medical insurance

Directors’ contracts

It 1s the company’s policy that executive
directors should have contracts with an

indefinite term providing for a maximum
of 12 month’s hotice

The policy, on terminaticn, i1s that the
company does not make payments beyond
s contractual obligations In addmion,
exacutive directors are expected to mrtigate
their loss or, within existing contractual
constraints, accept phased payments

The committee seeks to ensure that there
are no unpustified payments for fallure

None of the executive directors’ contracts
provides for iquidated damages There

are no special provisions contained In any
of the executive directors’ contracts that
provide for longer penods of notice on

a change of control of the company
Further, there are no special provisions
providing for additional compensation

on an executive director’s cessation

of employment wath the company

Potential payment Potential Potential

on termmation payment upon payment in event
Name of contract company takeover of iquidation
Alan Wiite 12 months salary N (unless terminated) Nl {unless terminated)
Dean Moore 12 months salary Nil (unless terminated) Nil {unless terminated)
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Non executive directors are retained on
letters of appointment All non executive
appointments are for indefinite terms
terminable upon six months notice and
are subject to successiul re-election

upon retirement by rotation as required

by the company’s articles of association
Termination cames no nght to compensation
other than that provided for by general law

The detatls of directors’ contracts are
summansed below

Name Status Date of Unexpired Notice
contract/letter term penod
Lord Allhance of Manchester CBE non executive 16 May 2007 nfa 6 months
Alan White executive 10 August 2002 nfa 12 months
Dean Moore executive 20 December 2004 na 12 months
Nigel Alliance OBE non executive 16 May 2007 n/a 6 months
Ivan Fallen non executive 30 May 2007 n/a 6 months
Lord Stone of Blackheath non executive 30 May 2007 n/a 6 months
John McGuire non executive 16 May 2007 n‘a 6 months

Non executive directors

All non executive directors have

specific terms of engagement and

their remuneration 1s deterrmined by the
board within the imits set by the articles
of association and based on independent
surveys of fees paid to non executive
directors of similar comparnes

The basic fee pad to each non executive
director in the year was within the range
£17,000 - £35,000 per annum A further

fee of £5,000 is payable for additional work
performed in respect of the charmanship
of the rermuneration, audit and nominations
committee The Senuor Non Executive
director also receives an additional fee of
£3,000 in recognition of the further duties
that post entrails Non executive directors
cannot participate in any of the company’s
share incentive schemes or performance
based plans and are not eligible to join the
company’s pension scheme

Performance graph

The graph shows the company’s 5

year performance, measured by total
shareholder return (“TSR"}, compared

with the performance of the FTSE Mid-250
Index, also measured by TSR The comipany
1s @ member of this index and accordingly
it 15 felt to be the most appropnate

comparator group for this purpose

Total Shareholder Return Performance N Brown vs FTSE 250
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Remuneration Report

Audited information
Directors’ remuneration and interests

Emoluments
The indmvidual elements of directors’ emoluments for the year are as follows

Performance-
Salaries Taxable related 2008 2007
/ fees benefits? bonuses? total total
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Executive (salanes}

Alan White 519 7 466 992 853
Dean Moore 266 2 247 515 459

Non executive {fees)
Lord Alhance of Manchester CBE 17 - - 17 17
Nigel Alhance OBE 18 - - 18 18
tvan Fallon 40 - - 40 36
Lord Stone of Blackheath 35 - - 35 33
John McGuire 37 - - 37 33
932 9 713 1,654 1,449

1 Taxable benefits compnse the provision of pnvate medical cover and life assurance cover

2 Included n the performance-refated bonus awards stated above are £118,476 for Alan White and £61,719 for Dean Moore which (after deduction of income

tax} are shortly due to be transferred to the deferred annual bonus scheme referred to above
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Remuneration Report

Penstons
Detalls of directors’ accrued pension entittements under the group’s defined benefit schemes are as follows

Transfer Transfer

value of Increase value

Accrued tncrease Accrued Transfer accrued in transfer of accrued

pension at during pension at value of pension at  value dunng pension at
24 Feb 2007 year? 01 Mar 2008 increase 24 24 Feb 2007°? year® 1 Mar 2008*

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000

Alan White 157 27 190 348 1,821 845 2,666

1 Pension entitlements shown are those that would be paid annually on retirement, based on service to the end of the year or leaving date if earher

2 Increase stated net of inflation

3 Transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuanal adwvice in accordance with Actuanal Guidance Note 11

4 Stated after deduction of member's contnbutions

5 The change In the transter value includes the effects of fluctuations in the transfer value due to factors beyond the control of the company and directors
such as gilt yeld changes

6 Mermbers of the scheme have the ophon to pay addhional votuntary contributions  naither the contnbutions nor the nesutting benefits are included n the
above table

Contnbutions paid by the company into the group’s defined contnbution scheme dunng the year in respect of Dean Moore amounted to
£14,610 (2007, £13,133}

Share options
Details of directors’ share options are as follows

Market
At At pnce at Date from
24 Feb  Granted Lapsed Exercised 1 Mar Exercise date of which Expiry
2007 in year In year In year 2008 pnce exercise  exercisable date
Alan White
SAYE 15,461 - - - 15,461 103 0p 01/08/08 31/01/09
15,461 - - - 15,461
Dean Moore
Executive 144,000 - - (144,000) -1 125 0p 347 5p 28/02/07 10/02/14
SAYE 18,579 - - - 18,579 88 Op 01/08/0% 31/01/10
162,579 - - (144,000) 18,579

1 Exercise subject to achievernent of minumum 3% p a average annual growth in the group's eamings per share over and above that of the Retal Pnce Index,
measured over the three year panod commencing with the year in which the option was granted

The total gain made by Dean Moore on the exercise of the share options dunng the year was £320,400

The market pnce of the company’s shares at 1 March 2008 was 250 5p (2007, 334 5p) and the range duning the year was 205p to 350p
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Deferred annual bonus share awards
Details of awards mads to the directors under the group’s deferred annual bonus scheme are as follows

Market Market

At At price at pnce at Date from
24 Feb Awarded Lapsed Exercised 1 Mar date of date of which Expiry
2007 m year in year In year 2008 award exercise exercisable date
Alan White 30,351 - - {30,351) - 1350p 2180p 27/05/07 26/11/07
36,071 - - - 36,071 2120p 26/05/08 25/11/08
- 28,465 - - 29,465 344 Op 25/05/09 24/11/09
66,422 29,465 - (30,351) 65,536
Dean Moore 15,597 - - (15,597) - 1350p 336 0p 27/05/07 26/11/07
18,000 - - - 18,000 2120p 26/05/08 25/11/08
- 15,381 - - 15,381 344 0p 25/05/09 24/11/0%
33,597 15,381 - (15,597) 33,381

The total gans made by Alan White and Dean Moore on the exercise of the awards dunng the year were £66,185 and £52,406 respectively

Long term incentives
Details of awards of shares made to the directors are as follows

Market Market

At At pnce at pnce at Date from
24 Feb Awarded Lapsed Exercised 1 Mar date of date of which Expiry
2007 in year In year In year 2008 award exercise exercisable date
Alan White 250,000 - - (250,000) -1 102 Op 245 0p 26/08/07 26/02/08
200,000 - - - 200,000' 1350p 28/06/08 27/12/08
59,677 - - - 59,677 1350p 08/02/09 (Q7/08/09
154,769 - - - 154,769 207 5p 13/06/09 12/12/09
61,907 - - - 61,907" 268 Op 19/10/09 18/04/10
- 150,560 - - 150,560" 3250p 18/06/10 17/12/10
- 2,180 - - 2,180 322 0p 16/07/10  15/01/11
726,353 152,740 - (250,000} 629,083
Dean Moore 136,029 - - {136,028) =1 102 0p 245 0p 26/08/07 26/02/08
113,055 - - - 113,055 1350p 28/06/08 27/12/08
80,623 - - - 80,623' 207 5p 13/06/09 12112/09
- 57,664 - - 57,664" 3250p 18/06/10 1771210

329,707 57,664 (136,029) 251,342

1 Exercise s subject to performance condition geared to Total Sharsholder Return

The total 3ya1ns made by Alan White and Dean Moore on the exercise of the awards dunng the year were £612,500 and £333,271
respectiv
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Interests
Directors' interests in shares of the company are as follows At At
1 Mar 24 Feb
2008 2007
Ordinary Ordinary
shares shares
of 11%up each of 11Vp each
Lord Alllance of Manchester CBE 86,525,232 86,525,232
Lord Alllance of Manchester CBE (non beneficial) 8,512,737 8,512,737
Alan White 359,772 211,742
Dean Moore 119,405 21,335
Nigel Alliance OBE 31,489,268 31,489,268
lvan Fallon - -
Lord Stone of Blackheath 6,333 6,333
John McGuire 9,047 9,047

Together with other employees and former employees of the group, the executive directors are potential beneficianes of the following

trusts, and as such are deemed to have a beneficial interest in the following shares of the company held by these trusts

At At

1 Mar 24 Feb

2008 2007

N Brown Group pic No 2 Employee Share Ownership Trust 70,247 16,195

There have been no changes in the above interests of the directors between the year end and 30 Apnl 2008

Approval

This report was approved by the board of directors on 9 May 2008 and signed on its behalf by

Ivan Fallon
Chairman of the remuneration committee

(o~
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Independent Auditors’ Report - Group Accounts

To the members of N Brown Group plc
We have audited the group financial
statements of N Brown Group plc for

the 53 week penod ended 1 March 2008,
which compnse the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement

of recognised income and expense,

the consolidated balance sheet, the
consolidated cash flow statement,
reconciliation of aperating profit to net
cash from operating activities, and the
related notes 1 to 34 These group
financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting poficies set out
therein We have alse audited the information
in the directors’ remuneration report that
1s descnbed as having been audited

We have reported separately on the parent
company financial statements of N Brown
Group plc for the 53 week penod ended

1 March 2008

This report 1s made solely to the company’s
members, as a body, in accordance with
section 235 of the Compantes Act 1985
Qur audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required

to state to them n an auditors’ report and
for no other purpose To the fullest extent
perrmitted by faw, we do not accept or
assume responsibilty to anyone other than
the company and the company's members
as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opintons we have formed

Respective responstbiities of directors
and auditors

The directors’ responsibiliies for prepanng
the annual report, the directors’ remuneration
report and the group financial statements
In accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRSs}) as adopted by the European Union
are set out in the directors’ repont

Qur responsibility 1s to audit the group
financial staternents and the part of the
remuneratton report descnbed as having
been audited In accordance with relevant
United Kingdom legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our opinion as to whether
the group financial statements give a

true and farr view and whether the group
financial statements and the part of the
directors’ remuneration report to be
audited have been propety prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and, as regards to the group financiat
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statements, Article 4 of the IAS regulation
Wae report to you i, whether in our opimion,
the information given in the directors’
report 15 consistent with the group
financial statements

In addtion we report to you if, in our
optnton, the company has not kept
proper accounting records, If we have
not recerved all the information and
explanations we require for our audst,
or if information specified by law
regarding directors’ remunegration and
other transactions 1s not disclosed

We review whether the corporate
govermnance statement reflects the
company's comphance with the nine
prowisions of the 2003 Combined Code
specified for our review by the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authonty,
and we report If it does not We are not
required to consider whether the board’s
statement on internal control covers all
nsks and centrols, or form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the group’s comorate
governance procedures or its nsk and
control procedures

We read the other information contained

in the annual report as described in the
contents section and consider whether ot 1
consistent with the audted group financial
statements We consider the implications
for our report If we becomne aware of any
apparent misstatements or matenal
inconsistencies with the group financial
statements Our responsibitities do not
extend to any other information

Basis of audrt opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of endence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures

in the group financial staterments and the
part of the remuneration report descnbed
as having been audited It also includes
an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors

in the preparation of the group financial
statements, and of whether the accounting
polictes are appropnate to the company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit
so as to obtamn all the information and
explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable

assurance that the group financial
statements and the part of the
remuneration report descnbed as having
been audited are free from matenal
misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or other imegulanty or ermor In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy cf the presentation

of iInformation in the group financial
statements and the part of the
remuneration report to be audited

Opinton
in our cpinion

¢ the group financial statements give a true
and farr iew, in accordance with those
IFRS's adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the group’s affairs as at
1 March 2008 and of its profit for
the 53 week penod then ended,

+ the group financial statements and
the part of the directors’ remuneration
report required to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and, as regards
the group financial statements, Article
4 of the IAS regulation, and

= the information given in the directors’
report I1s consistent with the group
financial statements

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs
As explained in note 2 to the group
financial statements, the group in addition
to complying with its legal cbligation to
comply with IFRSs as adopted by the
Eurcpean Union, has also complied with
IFRSs as 1ssued by the International
Accounting Standards Board [n our
opinon the group finanoial statements
give a true and farr view, In accordance
with IFRSs, of the stata of the group's
affars at 1 March 2008 and of its

profit for the 53 week penod then ended

beﬂo&\e o Lowdue P

Delottte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered
Auditors

Manchester

9 May 2008



Consolidated Income Statement

2008 2007
For the 53 weeks ended 1 March 2008 Note £m £m
Revenue — continuing operations 3 6109 5238
Operating profit - continuing operations 5 918 763
Investment incorme 7 42 27
Finance costs 8 (19 8) (11 3)
Fair value adjustments to financial instruments 19 18 (24)
Profit before taxation 780 6523
Taxation 9 (22.2) (185}
Profit for the year from continuing operations 558 458
Profit/{loss) for the year from discontinued operations 10 11 11}
Profit attnbutable to equity holders of the parent 569 a57
Earnings per share from continuing operations 12
Basic 20 75p 15 86p
Diluted 2067p 1577p
Earnings per share from conttnuing and discontinued operatons
Basic 21 16p 15 48p
Diluted 2108p 15 40p
Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense

2008 2007
For the 53 weeks ended 1 March 2008 Note £m £m
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 26 o8 04
Actuanal gains on defined benefit pension schermes 79 83
Tax on tems recognised directly in equity (10} {0 5}
Net income recognised directly in equity 77 82
Profit for the year 56 9 a57
Recognised income for the year attnbutable
to equity holders of the parent 27 646 539
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

2008 2007

As at 1 March 2008 Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 308 309
Property, plant & equipment 14 705 689
Deferred tax assets 21 71 113

1085 1111
Current assets
Inventones 16 681 549
Trade and other recevables 17 406 2 3592
Denvative financial Instruments 19 01 -
Cash and cash equivalents 29 508 400

5252 4541
Total assets 6337 5652
Current habiities
Bank overdrafts 18 02) {02)
Trade and other payables 22 (103 6) 837)
Denvative financial instruments 19 - (17
Dwadends declared 23 - {79 9)
Current tax habitity (13.2) (18 6)

{117 0) {184 1)
Net current assets 408 2 2700
Non-current habilthes
Bank loans 18 {250 0) (143 8)
Retirernent benefit obligation 33 58) 27 7)
Deferred tax habilihes 21 (12.4) {7 1)

(268 2) {178 6)
Total habities (385.2) (362 7)
Net assets 2485 2025
Equity
Share capital 23 300 296
Share premium account 24 110 103
Own shares 25 {01) -
Foreign currency transiation reserve 26 12 04
Retained earnings 27 206 4 162 2
Total equity 2485 2025

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 9 May 2008 and signed on rts behalf by

Alan White &.Lg
Dean Moore
Directors ) A
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

2008 2007
For the 53 weeks ended 1 March 2008 Note £m £m
Net cash from operating activibes N7 428
investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 8.8) (129)
Purchases of intangible fixed assets 67) (80)
Acquisttion of subsidiary - (7 3)
Disposal of subsidiary 28 33 -
Interest received 15 10
Net cash used In investing activities {10 7) (27 2)
Financing activities
Interest paid {16.2) B0)
Dmidends paid {101 4) {19 6)
Increase In bank loans 106 2 -
Proceeds on i1ssue of share capital o7 05
Proceeds on 1ssue of shares held by ESOT 05 04
Net cash used in financing activities {10 2) 26 7)
Net Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 108 111
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 400 511
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 29 508 400
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Reconciliation of Operating Profit to
Net Cash from Operating Activities

2008 2007
For the 53 weeks ended 1 March 2008 £m £m
Operating profit from continuing operations 918 763
Operating profit/loss) from discontinued operations 04 {16)
Adjustrments for
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 57 51
Amortisation of intangible assets 67 70
Share option charge 17 12
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 106 3 880
Increase in inventones (13.2) -
Increase n trade and other recervables (508) (32 5)
Increase In trade and other payables 230 14
Pension obhgation adjustment {14 5) 01
Cash generated by operations 50.8 570
Taxation paid (19 1) (14 2)
Net cash from operating activities 317 428
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Notes to the Group Accounts

1 General information

N Brown Group plc 1s a company
incorporated in the United Kingdom under
the Companies Act 1985 The address of
the registered office 1s listed at the end

of the report The nature of the group's
operations and its pnnaipal activities are
set out on page 24 of the directars’ report

These financia! statements are presented
in pounds sterling because that i1s the
currency of the pnmary economic
environment in which the group operates
Foreign operations are included in
accordance with the policies set out

in note 2

In the current year, the group has adopted
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures,
which 1s effective for annual reporting
penods beginning on or after 1 January
2007, and the related amendment to IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements The
impact of the adoption of IFRS 7 and the
changes to IAS 1 has been to expand the
disclosures provided in these financial
statements regarding the group’s financsal
instruments and management of capital
(see note 20}

Four Interpretations i1ssued by the
International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee are effective
for the current penod These are IFRIC

7 Applying the Restatement Approach
under AS 29, Financial Reporting n
Hypennflationary Economies, IFRIC 8
Scope of IFRS 2, IFRIC 9 Reassessment
of Embedded Denvatives, and [FRIC 10
Intenm Financial Reporting and Impairment
The adoption of these Interpretations has
not led to any changes in the group’s
accounting policies

At the date of authonsation of these
financial statements, the following
Standards and !nterpretations which
have not been apphed in these financial
statements were in 1ssue but not yet
effective

IAS 23 {Rewvised) Borrowing costs
IFRS 8 Operating segments

IRIC 11 IFRS 2 Group and treasury share
transactions

IFRIC 12 Service concession amangements
IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes

IFRIC 14 IAS 18 The mit on a defined
benefit asset, mimimum funding
requirements and their interaction

The directors anticipate that the adophon
of these Standards and Interpretations tn
future penods will have no matenal Impact
on the financial statements of the group
except for additional segment disclosures
when IFRS 8 comes into effect for penods
commencing on or after 1 January 2009

2 Accounting policies

Adoption of International Financiat
Reporting and Accounting Standards
(IFRS)

The group has adopted Standards and
Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

and the International Financial Reporting
Interpretatons Committee (IFRIC) of the
IASB that are relevant to its operations

Indmidual standards and interpretations
have to be adopted by the European
Commission (EC} and the process leads
to a delay between the 1ssue and adoption
of new standards and interpretations and
In some cases amendments by the EC
Where the group has applied a new
standard or interpretation in advance of
EC adoption this will be noted below in
the retevant policy statement

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been
prepared n accordance with IFRS
The financial statements have also
been prepared in accordance with
IFRSs adopted by the European Union
and therefore comply with Article 4 of
the EU IAS Regulation

The financial statements have been
prepared on the histoncal cost basis,
except for the revaluation of certain
financial nstruments The pnncipal
accounting policies adopted are set
out below

Accounting penod

Throughout the accounts and the directors
report and financial review, reference to
2008 means at 1 March 2008 or the

53 weeks then ended, reference to

2007 means at 24 February 2007 or

the 52 weeks then ended

Basis of consoltdation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of
the company and entities controlled by
the company (its subsidianes) made up
to the Saturday that falls closest to 28

February each year The Employee Share
Ownership Trust and the No 2 Employee
Share Ownership Trust (“the employee
trusts”) are also made up to a date co-
terminus with the financial period of the
parent company

The results of subsidianes acquired or
disposed of dunng the year are included
in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisiion or
up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate Control 1s achieved where
the company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of
an investee entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidianes to bnng the
accounting policies used into line with
those used by the group

All intra-group transactions, balances,
income and expenses are eliminated
on consghdation

Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidianes is
accounted far using the purchase method
The cost of the acquisition 1s measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at

the date of exchange, of assets given,
habiities incurred or assumed, and
equity instruments 1ssued by the group
in exchange for control of the acquiree,
plus any costs directly attnbutable to the
business combination The acquiree’s
dentifiable assets, labdities and
contingent liabilities that meet the
conditions for recogrition under IFRS 3
are recognised at therr far value at the
acquisiton date

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acqusition 1s
recognised as an asset and inially
measured at cost, being the excess of the
cost of the business combination over the
group's Interest in the net fair value of the
dentifiable assets, habiibes and contingent
habiities recogmsed If, after reassessment,
the group's interast in the net fair value of
the acquires’s identfiable assets, labilities
and contingent labilities exceeds the cost
of the business combination, the excess s
recognised iImmediately in profit or loss

Goodwilt1s reviewed for mpaiment
at least annually Any impairment 1s
recognised iImmediately in the income
statement and is not subsequently
raversed
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Notes to the Group Accounts

2 Accounting policies continued

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attnbutable
amount of goodwill 1s included In the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal

Purchased goodwill ansing on
acquisitions before 1 March 1998 was
charged against reserves in the year of
acquisition in accordance with UK GAAP
and has not been reinstated and is not
included In determining any subsequent
profit or loss on disposal

Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of
the consideration receved or receivable
and represents the total amount recevable
for goods and services provided in the
normal course of business net of returns